

MINUTES

Licensing Sub-Committee (2)

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Minutes of a meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee (2) held on Thursday 21st November, 2019, Rooms 18.01 & 18.03, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP.

Members Present: Councillors Tim Mitchell (Chairman), Peter Freeman and Maggie Carman

- 1 MEMBERSHIP
- 1.1 There were no changes to the membership.
- 2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
- 2.1 Councillor Tim Mitchell, Chair, declared that in respect of Item 1 he knew David Beida (Objector, Soho Society) and members of the Soho Society. Councillor Mitchell advised that he had not discussed the Application with Mr Beida or with any other member of the Soho Society.
- 1 GROUND TO FOURTH FLOOR, 8-14 MEARD STREET, LONDON, W1F 0EQ

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE No. 2

Thursday 21 November 2019

Membership: Councillor Tim Mitchell (Chairman), Councillor Peter Freeman

and Councillor Maggie Carman

Legal Adviser: Horatio Chance Committee Officer: Georgina Wills Presenting Officer: Kevin Jackaman

Relevant Representations: Licensing Authority, Environmental Health and eleven

local residents (Soho Society)

Present: Mr Craig Baylis (Solicitor, Bryan Schultz Leighton Paisner, representing the Applicant), Mr Ashley Frasier (Applicant, 13 Meard Street Tennant Limited), Ms Karyn Abbott (Licensing Authority), Mr Dave Nevitt (Environmental

Health) and Mr David Beida, Ms Marina Tempia, Mr Peter Schultz, Mr Victor Salussolia and Peter Cave (local residents, Soho Society)

We Work, Ground To Fourth Floor 8-14 Meard Street London W1F 0EQ ("The Premises") 19/12338/LIPN

1. | Sale by Retail of Alcohol – On Sales

Monday to Saturday 12:00 to 23:00 Sunday 12:00 to 22:30

Amendments to application advised at hearing:

The Applicant agreed for the Sunday 'on sales' hours to be amended and that the supply of alcohol to cease at 22.30.

Decision (including reasons if different from those set out in report):

Councillor Tim Mitchell, Chair, declared that he knew David Beida (Objector, Soho Society) and members of the Soho Society. Councillor Mitchell advised that he had not discussed the Application with Mr Beida or with any other member of the Soho Society.

The Sub-Committee considered an application by 13 Meard Street Tennant Limited ("The Applicant") for a new premises licence in respect of Ground To Fourth Floor 8-14 Meard Street London W1F 0EQ.

Mr Kevin Jackaman, Licensing Officer, introduced the application to the Sub-Committee and advised that it was proposed for the Premises to operate as an office space with the provision of refreshment facilities limited to designated officer users and bona fide guests. The Applicant sought on sales of alcohol from 12:00 to 23:00 hours Monday to Sunday. The Premises are not open to the public. Mr Jackaman advised that representation had been received from Environmental Health, the Licensing Authority and eleven residents. There were additional representations submitted by Mr Peter Schultz on behalf of the Soho Society on 19 November 2019 and these were circulated to all parties. The Premises was situated in the West Cumulative Impact Area.

Mr Craig Baylis the Applicant's Legal Representative advised that We Works was to occupy the Premises and that the company provided office space and meeting rooms for their members. The Applicant has over 40 premises in the UK and eight of these are located within the Borough. He advised that the Applicant intended for the Premises to operate in the same style as it's other branches and sought the same conditions that were imposed on nearby establishments. Mr Baylis informed that Planning Permission stipulated that the building must be used as an office and confirmed that all licensable activities would be ancillary to this specification. The Premises would for the avoidance of doubt not operate as a bar or a public house.

Mr Baylis advised that the Premises comprised of a lounge/café, office workspace and meeting rooms. He informed that Members paid £1000 per

month to use the facilities and used the space for a wide range of activities and events which include undertaking personal work, launching 'start ups', meeting clients, networking and socialising. Mr Baylis advised that the Premises was often used for 'start up companies' to launch their products. He advised that alcohol beverages were not always consumed at these events and on occasions members would bring their own alcohol beverages. The Premises would not be used for parties and there would be no music played or DJs. Mr Baylis advised that We Work Membership Scheme assigned members to a building and that individuals could use the facilities of other branches if they booked in advance. These facilities include meeting rooms. The Sub-Committee was advised that there were security barriers in the entrance of the Premises and that only members and their guests would be permitted into the building.

The Sub-Committee were shown pictures of the Premises layout and advised that there would be a maximum of 300 desks. The primary use of the building is for work space and the supply of beer is incidental. These supplies would be solely for members working at the Premises. Mr Baylis advised that alcohol would be in a designated area and that this part of the Premises would usually be vacated by 20:30hrs and not used during the weekends. He advised the Sub-Committee that a new planning application and new licence would need to be submitted if the premises were to operate as a bar. He stated that Members and their guests were required to adhere to a strict code of conduct and that individual's membership would be terminated if they did not comply. The Sub-Committee was advised that there had been no concerns raised with the other premises which were operated by We Works.

Mr Baylis advised that members would be instructed to use the alleyway to smoke when the roof terrace closed at 20:30 hours. He commented that this aspect would not be regulated if the Premises were to operate as a usual office building. The Sub-Committee noted that the alleyway was near residential buildings.

Following questions from the Sub-Committee Mr Baylis advised that the alcohol beverages on offer would be limited to larger and cider. These beverages will be dispersed via taps, which would be turned on at 15:00 hours and closed at 21:00 hours. Mr Baylis advised that longer hours than the above time frame had been requested and this was to ensure that beverages are available for Members using the facilities at later hours. He advised that a 'community business spirit' was fostered and that members were given an opportunity to network and offer their services to their counterparts. These professionals included Accountants and IT Engineers. The events which are held are corporate led.

In response to questions, Mr Baylis advised that Members are allocated access cards and are assigned to a building. All Premises have a help desk. He confirmed that individuals would need to pre-book in advance if they wished to work in a different premise from the office which they were assigned too. At current there is a waiting list to join We Works.

Councillor Freeman advised that he had previously sat on a Licensing Application for We Works. Mr Baylis in response to questions advised that the

supply of alcohol in these premises were available for 24 hours and that beer taps were usually closed at 21:00 hours. There are no facilities for sleeping at the Premises and usage of the buildings normally end at 18:00 hours.

Karyn Abbot, Licensing Authority Officer, advised that representation had been maintained on the grounds of the four Licensing Objectives (Public Nuisance, Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety and Protection from Children from harm). She advised that the Premises was in the West End Cumulative Impact Area. Ms Abbot advised that the hours sought were within core hours and reminded that Policy PB2 paragraph . 2.5.23 of the City Councils Statement of Licensing Policy ("SLP") refers stipulated that any new licences for pubs and bars in the cumulative impact area should be limited to exceptional circumstances. She commented that access to the Premises would be via an ID only. The Sub-Committee was advised that the Premises Terrace would be cleared by 20:30 hours and not 21:00 hours as printed in the report.

Mr David Nevitt, Environmental Health Officer, advised that he had dealt with other We Works Licensing Applications and that no concerns or complaints had been received in connection with the operations of these other branches. He commented the Applicant operated under strict conditions. Mr Nevitt advised that the Application was over several floors. The Sub-Committee was advised that the dispensing of alcohol would be in a designated area and that members were not expected to roam around the building. The Applicant wishes the Premises to have the same licensing conditions as their other branches as far as possible. The main function of the building is to operate as an office and the supply of alcohol will be restricted to, We Work members, employee of member companies and their bona fide guests. The Premises will be minded by a We Works Community Manager and area where alcohol is supplied will be patrolled. These patrols will be constant.

Mr Nevitt advised that the Premises had external security gates and confirmed that the Premises was not open to the public. He advised that the Premises terraces were located near to resident's buildings and that use of this area would cease at 20:30 hours. This was required as part of the Planning Permission. Mr Nevitt advised that there were concerns that residents on Meard Street would experience nuisance and confirmed that the mentioned area was pedestrianised. He advised that it was preferred for smokers to remain on the terrace and not at the front of the Premises. There is no expectation for there to be many smokers. Mr Nevitt confirmed that the Premises was in a largely residential area and that there were no concerns that there would be any public nuisance. Mr Nevitt advised that representation had been maintained by Environmental Health and this was because of the objections received from the eleven residents.

Mr David Beida, local resident, confirmed that he had not discussed the Application with Councillor Tim Mitchell (Chair) and was unaware that he would be chairing. He advised that he had resided at his dwellings since 1993. Mr Beida advised that Meard Street and surrounding areas comprised of a mixture of small shops, restaurants and bespoke tailors. The vicinity predominately comprises of residential buildings and these properties were a mixture of private housing and those owned by Housing Associations. He advised that Meard

Street was relatively quiet and that there were properties in which the bedrooms were front facing.

Mr Beida referred to Appendix 1 on pg. 17 of Licensing Sub-Committee Report which contained a floor plan of the licensing area. Mr Beida advised that the plans did not depict that the lounge was directly facing residential buildings located at Meard Street. He commented that the hours requested were not within the core hours and highlighted that the timings requested for the supply of alcohol on Sunday was 23:00 and not 22:30 hours. Mr Beida referred to the We Works online advertisement and commented that the description of the Premises on Meard Street did not mention that the building was surrounded by private housing. He commented that the surrounding areas of other We Works branches differed to that of Meard Street.

Mr Beida circulated copies of the online advertisement placed by We Works for the Premises at Meard Street. The Chair noted that the documents would be classified as late evidence and advised that they would be accepted.

Mr Peter Schultz, local resident raised concerns about the 'control and management' of the supply of alcohol' and commented that there would be no staff on the premises after 17:00 hours or during the weekends. He highlighted that the Premises did not have a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) on the Premises to control the licensable activities. Mr Schultz advised that he had made telephone enquiries about how the licensable activities on the Premises was to be managed and advised that he was still unaware on how the above would be undertaken. He commented that the supply of alcohol would effectively be for 24 hours. The Sub-Committee was advised that there would be no waiter service or supervision of members after 17:00 hours.

Mr Schultz advised that there were concerns on how many guests would be permitted for each member and the number of events that would be held. The Sub-Committee noted that the ground floor would be used for events and there were was no information to say how these will be properly supervised and questioned whether this arrangement met the promotion of the licensing objectives. There were concerns that the Premises may become a designated spot for 'after work' drinks and encourage individuals to travel there. He advised that the lack of supervision at the Premises meant that the licensing objectives would not be met and suggested for a DPS to be present and the supply of alcohol to be limited.

Mr Schultz commented that there was awareness that office spaces in the area was needed and there had been a loss in the number of these premises. He commented that there should be a balance of residential buildings, commercial space and office buildings.

Mr Baylis advised the Sub-Committee that the We Works operational schedules would alleviate the concerns raised. He advised the Sub-Committee thatthe exceptional rule contained within Policy PB2 (paragrapah 2.5.23 of the SLP refers) was met as the supply of alcohol would be limited to Members working at the Premises and their bona fide guests. The Sub-Committee commented that any member could use the Premises and that the group had over 4000

members. The Committee queried whether this would have a bearing on the 'exceptional rule'. In response to questions Mr Baylis advised that prospective We Works members at the Meard Street Office would be allocated unique membership cards and would be required to access the building via the main gates. He advised that the advertisement for membership for Meard Street stated that only members could use this site.

In response to questions from the Sub-Committee, Mr Baylis advised that membership to the We Works scheme did not give members automatic access to all the buildings that the company were based. He confirmed that members whose office base was not at Meard Street would be required to book in advance if they wished to use this premises. The Sub-Committee was advised that a meeting room would also need to be available before their request can be processed. In response to the Legal Advisor to the Committee, Mr Baylis confirmed that all Members ID Cards were restricted to a single particular site.

Mr Schultz advised that he had attended a meeting with We Works and commented that he was aware that membership of the scheme did not give automatic access to all of the Applicant's premises. He advised that there was particular concern that the lounge in the Premises could be misused and that access to this area was not restricted. The Sub-Committee was advised that the lounge and meeting rooms at the Premises all faced Meard Street and these rooms were opposite residential buildings.

Mr Schultz advised that he supported the submission from Mr Beida and confirmed that the Premises was located in a vibrant mixed area. He commented that he had resided in the area for over 30years and held no antibusiness sentiments. The Sub-Committee was advised that the area was predominantly residential and comprised of largely Georgian period houses. He commented that these style of properties had poor sound insulation and noise would penetrate through the walls. Mr Schultz advised that these Premises had been converted and that residents lived in the basement, ground floor and the upper floors of these buildings. The Sub-Committee was advised that smoke from pedestrian's cigarettes would travel into resident's homes. Mr Schultz also raised concerns about cumulative impact and the changing nature of the area.

Mr Schultz queried whether the Premises should be considered as an office and commented that alcohol was being supplied and this was typical feature of a bar. He highlighted that unlike a bar the supply of alcohol would be done via a tap rather than a waited service. The Sub-Committee was advised that the subscribers to We Works were able to chose locations where they wanted to work from.

Mr Peter Cave, local resident advised that he had resided at his dwellings for over 20 years and stated that he supported the submission which had been made by both residents. He advised that We Works online advertisement included a picture of his property and had several errors which included the company's name. Mr Cave commented that there were several uncertainties and contradictions with the application. He stated that members would be allowed to roam the Premises with alcoholic beverages and that there were uncertainties about the number of guests that each member would be

permitted. The Sub-Committee were reminded that there could potentially be over 300 members and each of these individuals could each bring several guests. There were concerns about the lounge and congregation in this section of the building and there being a 'spill out' from the vicinity. Members were advised that the noise emanating from this area would cause a public nuisance to occupiers in adjacent properties.

Mr Cave commented that there had been no confirmation that music would not be played at the Premises. There were concerns that events could continue until late in the evening and the hours sought for licensable activities. He reminded the Sub-Committee that individuals were permitted to bring alcohol to the Premises and raised concerns over the dispersal of members. He highlighted that Meard Street and surrounding areas were pedestrianised.

Mr Victor Salussolia, local resident, advised that he had lived at his property for a long period and commented that Meard Street comprised of largely residential properties. He advised that the area had a good 'community spirit'. Mr Salussolia raised concerns over noise nuisance emanating from the Premises and advised that residents were already affected by noise travelling from Wardour Street. The Sub-Committee noted that there were concerns over the supply of alcohol and the number of delegates attending events held at the Premises.

Ms Marina Tempia, local resident, advised the Sub-Committee that there were concerns about the large numbers of Members using the Premises and potential disturbances to residents 'daily lives'. She informed the Sub-Committee that Meard Street and surrounding areas were largely pedestrianised. She advised that there were anti-social behaviour in the vicinity. Ms Tempia highlighted that the Premises would have the License for an indefinite period if granted and confirmed that there were concerns that a large premise would be in operation in a predominately residential setting. There were concerns that the Premises could be converted into a restaurant.

Ms Tempia recommended for the Licence to be limited personally to We Works and that the Applicant should be required to surrender the Licence once they vacate the building. This would help to protect the surrounding areas. The Sub-Committee was advised that the other nearby establishments did not have front covers. Ms Tempia advised that the Sub-Committee should take into consideration the Premises locality and its proximity to residential buildings. The Sub-Committee were advised that the Premises terminal hours should be restricted until 20:00 hours or 21:00 hours and the supply of alcohol be limited to specific persons.

In response to questions from the Sub-Committee Mr Baylis informed that access to We Works premises was governed by contract and that Members paid a fee of £1000 to work in their buildings. He confirmed that the office space was limited and that members could pre-book rooms at various branches if they were available. The Sub-Committee were reminded that members were assigned to a dedicated site and that the planning permission conditions restricted the use of the building. Mr Baylis advised that Conditions proposed required that all licensable activities were ancillary to the main function of the

premises as offices. The supply of alcohol will be limited to specific persons.

Mr Baylis highlighted that there had not been any representation from the Metropolitan Police. He also stated that We Works operated in three premises which were located in Soho London and that there were no concerns raised about their operational models. It was confirmed that there will be no music and dancing at the Premises and members would not be expected to 'spill out' onto the pavements. Mr Baylis advised that a Condition which stipulated that alcohol could not be taken out of the Premises would be accepted.

Following questions from the Sub-Committee, Mr Baylis agreed that the Model Condition 12 which stipulated that no nuisance should emanate from the Premises would be accepted. Mr Baylis advised that the External Staff and Community Team supervised the use of the alcohol beverage taps. He advised that the security team members receive training on 'alcohol management' and this will include how to turn 'taps' off. The Sub-Committee noted that the Premises comprised of four floors and that members could take alcohol beverages in any part of the building. Mr Baylis advised that members could bring their own alcohol and that events held at the Premises would mainly be business meetings and corporate functions.

Mr Baylis advised that the primary consumption of alcohol would be between 15:00 hours and 21:00hours. He confirmed that the hours sought in the application was undertaken in order to accommodate events taking place later during the day and the requirement to apply for Temporary Events Notices (TENS). The Sub-Committee was advised that other Premises which were operated by We Works had the same conditions and operational times. It was stated that the Application before the Committee were the same as the other localities. He commented that the alcohol was supplied until 23:00 hours was per their other Premises. Mr Baylis advised that the requirement for the supply of alcohol to cease at 22:30 hours on Sunday would be accepted.

The Sub-Committee held a discussion on what was considered as nuisance and advised by the Legal Advisor to the Committee that the model condition in respect of nuisance had been universally tested and had a wide threshold. These includes noise and vibrations.

Mr Beida advised the Sub-Committee that Meard Street was different from the other localities which We Works operated. Mr Beida commented that a picture of the residents property was used in a We Works advertisement and that the images was still on the company's website nor was there any apology received for its usage. The Sub-Committee requested that this be rectified.

Having carefully listened to the Applicant, Environmental Health, the Licensing Authority and residents the Sub-Committee granted the Application with Conditions. In granting the Application the Sub-Committee took into consideration the Premises locality and noted that it differed from other nearby sites. The Committee therefore imposed conditions to reflect the above. These included imposing Model Condition 12 on noise prevention and restricting the use of a Terrace until 20:30 hours during Mondays to Fridays. The Sub-Committee also stipulated that the Applicant work with Environment Health in

identifying a suitable location for designated smoking so this did not cause a nuisance to residents. The Sub-Committee noted that the primarily use of the Premises was an office and that all licensable activities would be ancillary thereto. The entrance to the Premises was restricted to members and their bona fide guests. The Sub-Committee noted that the Applicant had agreed to conditions which restricted the supply of alcohol to beer, wine and ciders. The Sub-Committee noted that the supply of alcohol was available until only 21:00hrs. The Sub-Committee agreed that the Applicant was able to demonstrate that the application was an exception to policy and on that basis the conditions imposed would have the overall effect of ensuring the promotion of the licensing objectives

2. Hours Premises are Open to the Public

The premises are closed to the public.

Amendments to application advised at hearing:

None.

Decision (including reasons if different from those set out in report):

The Sub-Committee granted the application (see reasons for decision in Section 1).

Conditions attached to the Licence

Mandatory Conditions

- 1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of this licence.
- 2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.
- 3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence.
- 4. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
 - (2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises—
 - (a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or encourage, individuals to;

- (i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
- (ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);
- (b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
- (c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or

less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

- (d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner:
- (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a disability).
- 5. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available.
- 6. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol.
 - (2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.
 - (3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either—
 - (a) a holographic mark, or
 - (b) an ultraviolet feature.
- 7. The responsible person must ensure that—
 - (a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for

consumption on the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the following measures—

- (i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
- (ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
- (iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
- (b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is available to customers on the premises; and
- (c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor. For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol.

- 8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
- 8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above
 - (a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;
 - (b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D+(DxV)

Where -

- (i) P is the permitted price,
- (ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
- (iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol:
- (c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence –
- (i) the holder of the premises licence,

- (ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
- (iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a licence;
- (d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and
- (e) "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax Act 1994.
- 8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that subparagraph shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.
- 8(iv). (1) Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.
 - (2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.

Conditions imposed by the Licensing Authority after a hearing:-

- 9. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an authorised officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours of the incident and will record the following:
- (a) all crimes reported to the venue
- (b) all ejections of patrons
- (c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
- (d) any incidents of disorder
- (e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons
- (f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment
- (g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol
- (h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.
- 10. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke, shall not be permitted to take drinks or glass containers with them.
- 11. The licensable activities authorised by this licence and provided at the premises shall be ancillary to the main function of the premises as offices.
- 12. Outside of the hours authorised for the sale of alcohol and whilst the premises are open, the licence holder shall ensure that all alcohol within the premises which is dispensed by the licence holder is secured so as to prevent access to the alcohol by

both members and staff.

- 13. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31 day period.
- 14. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.
- 15. The supply of alcohol shall only be to members of the WeWork group of companies or employees of member companies, or their bona fide guests.
- 16. The Wework Community Manager responsible for the premises shall ensure that the area of the premises where alcohol is supplied under this licence shall be regularly patrolled by community management and housekeeping teams during the hours that supply of alcohol is permitted to ensure compliance with the Licensing Act 2003 and the Wework Responsible Alcohol Management Plan
- 17. No licensable activities shall take place at the premises until the premises has been assessed as satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time this condition shall be removed from the Licence by the licensing authority.
- 18. The terrace areas will be cleared of people by 20.30 every day.
- 19. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the premises which gives rise to a nuisance.
- 20. Smokers using the terraced areas are permitted to do so until 20.30 hours Monday to Friday and this area shall not be used at Weekends.
- 21. At all other times smokers shall use a designated place to be confirmed by Environment Health.
- 22. The supply of alcohol at the Premises should be limited to beer, cider and wine.

2 48 GREEK STREET, LONDON, W1D 4EF